I. INTRODUCTION 


James Wimberley (hereinafter "Jim"l) was the care provider for his 

mother Margaret Wimberley (hereinafter "Margaret") for nine years after 

the death ofhis father C.W. Wimberley (hereinafter "C.W."). Not only did 

Jim assist her with day-to-day living, he completed the process of building 

the retirement home on Fromherz Road in Yakima that she and C.W. had 

begun shortly before his death in 2002. In recognition of Jim's actions, 

Margaret hired an attorney to assist her with revising the revocable living 

trust that she and C.W. had established as an estate tax planning strategy in 

1999. The validity ofMargaret's 2007 and 2008 amendments is undisputed. 

The 2007 and 2008 Trust amendments accomplished multiple 

purposes. First, the 2007 amendment altered the distributive potion of the 

Trust. It directed that the Fromherz Road home and approximately $97,000 

in cash would pass to Jim as a specific bequest before the remainder of the 

estate was distributed equally between Jim and his brother Carol Wesley 

Wimberley (hereinafter "Wes"). 

Approximately one year later, fearing that her son Wes would 

attempt to financially exploit her and take her money, Margaret signed the 

2008 Amendment. Margaret was again represented by counsel when the 

I First names are used as a matter ofconvenience where multiple family members have 
the same surname, no disrespect is intended. 
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2008 Amendment was created. This amendment made the Trust 

irrevocable, and Margaret voluntarily withdrew as Surviving Trustee in 

favor ofher trusted son Jim. Unfortunately and despite her best efforts, Wes 

was still able to fmancially exploit Margaret by having her withdraw 

$306,000 from a Trust account in December 2009, appropriating $26,000 

to himself immediately and placing the remainder in a separate non-trust 

account. 

After Margaret's death, the dispute between Wes and Jim continued, 

eventually resulting in an order appointing an independent trustee, 

Northwest Trustee & Management Services (hereinafter the "Successor 

Trustee"), to finalize administration of the Trust and do a forensic 

accounting of Trust assets. However, despite an order requiring the newly 

appointed Successor Trustee to complete an accounting going back to the 

date of C.W.'s death in 2002, the Successor Trustee inexplicably chose to 

do the accounting back only to the date ofMargaret's death. The result was 

that the financial exploitation of Wes went unnoticed by this new trustee. 

The Successor Trustee further failed to adhere to the terms of the 2007 

Amendment, thus reducing Jim's share ofTrust assets by $200,000 or more. 

Despite these mistakes, the Superior Court approved the preliminary 

accounting of the Successor Trustee and ordered that Jim repay the Trust 

$254,437.91 for allegedly over-distributing assets to himself as trustee. 
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This and other errors in the trial court's June 4, 2013, Order have 

resulted in a grossly improper proposed distribution ofTrust assets, and the 

erroneous imposition of damages against Jim while, Wes, who financially 

exploited his own mother, receives a substantially larger portion ofthe Trust 

estate than his parents ever intended. In fact, as the financial abuser of 

Margaret-a vulnerable adult-Wes should not receive any inheritance or 

property from the Trust, much less the substantial amount that has been 

erroneously calculated by the Successor Trustee. This Court must remand 

this matter to the Superior Court (1) to direct the Successor Trustee to 

properly recalculate the distribution of Trust assets and (2) for entry of a 

finding that Wes was, as a matter of law, a financial abuser who cannot 

receive any interest of property through Margaret, a statutorily-protected 

vulnerable adult. 

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. The trial court erred when it entered the June 4,2013, Order 

Approving Preliminary Accounting and Petition for Instructions. Clerk's 

Papers (hereinafter "CP") at 344-346. 

2. The trial court erred when it determined that the start date 

for the accounting period is August 2, 2010 (the date of Margaret 

Wimberley's death). CP at 345. 

3. The trial court erred when it accepted the accounting of 
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Northwest Trustee & Management Services dated August 24, 2012. CP at 

345. 

4. The trial court erred when it ordered Jim Wimberley to 

reimburse the Wimberley Family Trust $254,437.91. CP at 345. 

5. The trial court erred when it ordered Jim Wimberley to 

reimburse the Trust interest accruing from the date of the entry of the Order 

at a rate of 12 percent a year. CP at 345. 

6. The trial court erred when it ordered Jim Wimberley to 

reimburse the Trust for the fees and costs associated with bringing the 

Petition Approving Preliminary Accounting and Petition for Instructions, 

including reasonable attorney fees and costs. CP at 345. 

7. The trial court erred when it ordered Jim Wimberley to pay 

fees accrued by Northwest Trustee & Management Services related to its 

forensic accounting. CP at 345. 

8. The trial court erred when it concluded that the deed 

executed by Jim Wimberley as trustee of the Wimberley Family Trust 

quitclaiming the home located at 386 Fromherz Drive in Yakima, 

Washington, to himself in his individual capacity as a trust beneficiary was 

null and void. CP at 345. 
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9. The trial court erred when it ordered Jim Wimberley to pay 

the Trust rent of$800 per month for the period commencing August 2, 2010 

(the date of Margaret Wimberley's death). CP at 345. 

10. The trial court erred when it concluded that the Successor 

Trustee has the right to amend his accounting to include newly discovered 

evidence, including, without limitation, the $67,000 debt from Jim 

Wimberley to C.W. and Margaret Wimberley as indicated on Jim's 

dissolution decree. CP at 345. 

11. The trial court erred when it failed to enter a finding or 

certify for trial the issue of whether Wes Wimberley should be disinherited 

under the Slayer and Abuser statute for financial exploitation of Margaret. 

See CP at 87, 88, 102-04. 

III. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

L Should the trial court's June 4,2013, Order be reversed and 

the Successor Trustee be directed to complete a detailed and proper 

accounting where the trial court's was premised on an improper and 

incorrect legal interpretation of the Trust document and the 2007 and 2008 

amendments thereto? (Assignment of Error Nos. 1,2,3,4,5,6, 7, 8, 9). 

2. Did the Successor Trustee arbitrarily and improperly use the 

date ofMargaret Wimberley's death as the start date for the trust accounting 

when (a) that date has no relevance to the facts and circumstances involved 
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in this matter and (b) the Successor Trustee had been directed to do an 

accounting going back to the date when Margaret Wimberley removed 

herself as trustee? (Assignment of Error Nos. 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7). 

3. Is Wes a financial abuser who must be disinherited pursuant 

to Chapter 11.84 RCW where Wes admits to taking Margaret to the bank to 

withdraw $306,000 from a Trust account, immediately appropriating 

$26,000 for himself, at a time when multiple sources describe her as being 

vulnerable to undue influence and incapable ofmanaging her own finances? 

(Assignment of Error Nos. 1, 2, 3, 11). 

4. Did the Successor Trustee improperly fail to account for and 

characterize Trust assets back to the time when Margaret Wimberley 

stepped down as trustee and made the Trust irrevocable where the Successor 

Trustee's failure artificially excluded assets Wes invalidly transferred from 

the Trust account that Margaret specifically bequeathed to Jim Wimberley 

pursuant to the 2007 and 2008 Trust amendments, eliminating offsets Jim 

was entitled to raise as a defense to reimbursement claims by the trust? 

(Assignment of Error Nos. 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 9). 

5. Did the trial court err when it failed to invalidate Margaret 

Wimberley's transfer of over $300,000 in Trust assets at the behest of 

Wesley Wimberley from an account specifically designated for Jim 

Wimberley into a different non-trust account when she was an incapacitated 
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vulnerable adult, was no longer trustee, and lacked legal authority to make 

the transfer? (Assignment ofError Nos. 1,2,3,4,5,6, 7, 11), 

6. Did the trial court fail to effect Margaret Wimberley's intent 

where (a) Margaret made a specific gift of 100 percent of the Fromherz 

Road property to Jim Wimberley in 2007 and 2008 Trust amendments, and 

(b) Margaret controlled sufficient Trust assets to gift 100 percent of the 

Fromherz Road property to Jim? (Assignment of Error Nos. 1,2,3,4, 8, 

9). 

7. Can the trial court require Jim Wimberley to pay rent on his 

own home and interest on other amounts where (a) the trial court improperly 

denied Margaret Wimberley's right to gift 100 percent of the Fromherz 

Road property to Jim and funds in a specified account and (b) where the 

court erroneously approved the Successor Trustee's accounting that 

incorrectly required Jim Wimberley to reimburse the Trust $254,437.91? 

(Assignment of Error Nos. 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9). 

8. Is the Successor Trustee precluded from investigating the 

alleged debt of Jim Wimberley to his parents where that debt is solely 

identified in a 1994 divorce decree between he and his ex-wife and when 

the statute of limitations and the doctrine of laches would preclude legal 

action? (Assignment of Error No. 1,7,10). 
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IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 


A. 	 During Their Marriage, C.W. and Margaret Conducted Estate 
Planning by Creating a Community Property Agreement and, 
Later, a Revocable Living Trust. 

C.W. and Margaret Wimberley were married on July 7, 1945. They 

had two children during their marriage, Carroll Wesley Wimberley and Jim 

Wimberley, who are the interested parties to the current lawsuit. 

Over the course of many years, C.W. and Margaret established an 

estate plan. First, on August 17, 1967, the couple entered into a community 

property agreement whereby all property owned or later acquired by the 

couple would be held as community property. CP at 108-09. The 

agreement stated as follows: 

1. That in case of the death of the said C.W. 
Wimberley, while Margaret V. Wimberley survives, 
the whole of said properties, together with any other 
property by them or either of them hereafter 
acquired, shall at once vest in Margaret V. 
Wimberley in fee simple. 

CP at 108. There is no evidence that this Community Property Agreement 

was ever modified or terminated. 

On January 15, 1999, C.W. and Margaret completed further estate 

planning in the form of a revocable living trust entitled "The Wimberley 

Family Trust, dated January 15, 1999, C.W. Wimberley and Margaret 

Wimberley, Trustor and/or Trustees." See CP at 111-76. Pursuant to the 

terms of the Trust, after the death of the first spouse, the surviving spouse 
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would divide Trust assets in half placing one half of the Trust assets into an 

irrevocable Decedent's trust and would retain full control over the 

survivor's share. CP at 138 (Wimberley Family Trust, pg. 28). "The 

Surviving Trustee [in this case Margaret] shall have the sole discretion to 

select the commonly owned, community and quasi-community assets or the 

proportionate share of any such assets which shall be included in the 

Decedent's Trust B and Trust C." CP at 139 (Wimberley Family Trust, pg. 

29). Margaret, and only Margaret, had authority under the terms of the 

Trust to select those assets that would be retained in her trust. The Trust 

did not authorize C.W. as the deceased trustor or any subsequent trustee to 

make this division of assets. 

At the risk of over-simplif)ring, any property owned by C.W. and 

Margaret at the time of C.W's death passed directly to Margaret in fee 

simple. Thus, any property not held in a trust was Margaret's property to 

dispose of as she pleased, and only Margaret could make the division of 

assets held in the trust. 

B. 	 At the Time of C.W.'s Death, Less Than Half of the Couple's 
Assets Were Held in Trust. 

C.W. died on January 20, 2002, leaving Margaret as the "Surviving 

Trustee." See CP at 138. At the time of C.W.'s death, he and Margaret 

owned assets totaling approximately $1,089,035.20, but not all of those 
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assets had been placed into the Trust.2 The Trust held total assets of 

$500,729.163, a portion of which included real property located at 386 

Fromherz Road (hereinafter "Fromherz Road Property"). The couple 

owned non·trust assets worth $588,306.044
, which were subject to the terms 

of the community property agreement and passed to Margaret in fee simple 

at the time ofC.W.'s death. 

Between the time of C.W.' s death and the execution of Margaret's 

later Trust amendments, Margaret continued to administer all Trust assets 

as a single trust without making an affirmative allocation of assets into a 

decedent's trust. Margaret transferred portions ofher own separate property 

into the Trust, beginning on May 15, 2002, with real property located at 

1209 North 16th Avenue in Yakima, Washington. CP at 238A2. This 

property was business property owned equally by C.W. and his business 

partner at the time of C.W. 's death. After C.W.'s death, Margaret became 

owner of C.W.' s half interest, which she then transferred into the Trust as 

her separate asset. See Appendix B. The property was subdivided, and one 

2 From a purely legal perspective, any assets contained in trust are owned by the trustfor 
the benefit ofthe trust beneficiaries, in this case C.W. and Margaret, and not owned by 
the beneficiaries directly. 

3 See Appendix A showing Trust account balances and assets at time ofC.W.'s death, 
with citations to supporting documents. 

4 See Appendix B showing Non-Trust account balances and assets at time of C.W.' s 
death, with citations to supporting documents. 
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parcel was sold for $175,000, with proceeds from the sale being placed into 

the Trust by Margaret on November 13,2004. The other subdivided parcel 

is still held by the Trust with an estimated value of$215,000. 

In addition to the business property described above, C.W. had a 50

percent interest in the business, itself valued at approximately $84,906.04 

when it was liquidated in 2008. This property was also a non-trust asset 

that belonged to Margaret as her separate property after the death of C.W. 

by virtue ofthe community property agreement. The proceeds from the sale 

were deposited into a bank account owned by the Trust as Margaret's 

separate assets on November 21,2008. CP at 247. 

A second parcel of property, owned individually by Margaret, was 

sold on November 19,2004, with Margaret placing the proceeds of the sale 

into the Trust as her separate assets. CP at 234-236. The property is located 

at 906 South 19th Avenue in Yakima, Washington, and it sold for $113,400. 

CP at 234-236. The property was owned by Margaret and C.W. prior to 

creation of the trust. CP at 234-236. The property itself was never 

transferred into the Trust and became the separate property of Margaret by 

virtue of the community property agreement after the death ofC.W. CP at 

235. When placed into the Trust by Margaret, the proceeds of the sale 

continued to be her separate assets. See CP at 112 ("[P]roperty held in any 
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Trust created herein as the separate property ofeither Trustor shall he solely 

administered under the authority of the Trustor whose property it is ...."). 

Margaret received additional separate property resulting from a 

wrongful death settlement arising out of the facts and circumstances of 

C.W.'s death. C.W. had been exposed to asbestos during his lifetime and 

Margaret received approximately $379,730.39 in settlement proceeds after 

C.W.'s death. CP at 249-76. Margaret retained $126,576.79 of these 

proceeds, dividing the remainder equally between her sons Jim and Wes. 

Margaret placed her share of the proceeds into the Trust bank account as 

her separate trust assets. 

Thus, after C.W.'s death Margaret transferred substantial amounts 

ofher separate assets into the Trust after the death ofC.W. The transfer of 

these assets is easily traceable through the information contained in 

Appendix A and Appendix B attached to this brief, and the source 

documents cited therein. 

c. 	 Margaret Executes the July 2007 Trust Amendment, Making 
Important Modifications to the Trust. 

On July 18, 2007, Margaret executed an amendment to the Trust. 

CP at 178-81 (hereinafter the "2007 Amendment"). Margaret retained 

attorney Richard C. Greiner of Yakima to assist her by drafting the 

amendment. See CP at 194-98 (Declaration ofRichard C. Greiner). At the 
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time the 2007 Amendment was drafted, Mr. Greiner described Margaret as 

follows: 

Through the years as Margaret's attorney I grew to 
know her physical and mental abilities. Margaret 
was a very strong willed person and very mentally 
sharp. She knew exactly what she wanted and knew 
exactly what she owned. She knew exactly how she 
wanted to leave her bounty and she was clear in 
expressing the same to me. 

CP at 194-95 (Declaration ofRichard C. Greiner, ~ 5). 

The 2007 Amendment made several changes to the original Trust. 

First, in paragraphs A and B, Margaret modified her own powers as trustee 

to increase her authority over all assets contained in the Trust. CP at 178 

(2007 Amendment). The 2007 Amendment states, "Given the changes to 

the Federal Estate Tax laws, the Surviving Trustor/Trustee [Margaret] elects 

to not fund trust assets into what would be a 'decedent's trust. ,,. CP at 178 

(2007 Amendment, ~ A). It goes on to state, "The Surviving Trustor shall 

have full use and control over all trust assets." CP at 178 (2007 Amendment, 

~ A). Margaret also reaffirmed Jim Wimberley as first successor trustee, as 

he was previously designated in the original 1999 Trust document. 

Margaret also made important modifications to the distributive 

provisions of the Trust. Paragraph D of the 2007 Amendment states as 

follows: 
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D: The Trustor further elects to modify the 
distributive provisions of the trust beginning at page 
SO of the trust agreement as follows: 

Primary Residence: The Trustor's primary residence 
located at 386 Fromherz Road, Yakima Wa[,] and all 
of the surrounding property, buildings, 
improvements and fixtures and supporting 
equipment used on that property shall be distributed 
unto James K. Wimberley as compensation time, 
labor and other resources in improving the property. 
This distribution shall not be subject to offset against 
his share of the residual trust. 

Further, the entire balance of the building fund 
account held with Yakima Federal Savings and Loan 
Association shall be set aside from all of the 
Trustor's other accounts and investments and be 
distributed to Jim for the purpose of finishing the 
ongoing work on the property. Jim shall use this 
fund at his sole discretion toward finishing the 
property and the fund shall not be offset against his 
share of the residual trust. 

Residual Distribution: The rest, residue and 
remainder of the trust assets shall be divided in equal 
shares between Jim and Wes as forth in the trust 
document and shall be subject to the specific 
distribution set forth above. 

CP at 179-80 (2007 Amendment, ~ D). 

Jim Wimberley had been assisting his parents with the construction 

of the home at 386 Fromherz Road since before his father's death. See CP 

at 179, 187. Thus, Margaret wished to compensate Jim for the time and 

sacrifice he made in constructing the house, and she wished for this to be a 
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specific distribution to Jim prior to an equal distribution of the remaining 

assets after her death. According to Mr. Greiner: 

6. During our series of conversations in 2007 
Margaret was concerned about the relationship 
between her sons. She characterized Wesley as "the 
one who went out and made his way in the world" 
and she characterized James as "the one who stayed 
with us to help and protect us." (her quotes, not mine) 

7. During the 2007 conversations, Margaret 
wanted to ensure that James would have the house, 
free from any interest by Wesley. She explained that 
James and C.W. built the house and James continued 
to work on the house after C.W.'s passing. She 
wanted James to have the house as repayment for the 
time and labor that he put into the house. 

8. Margaret also explained that there was much 
work to be done to finish the house so she had 
established an account that she named the "building 
fund" account at Yakima FederaL The "building 
fund" actually consisted of two accounts, a checking 
account No. 5734, and a savings account No. 5370. 
Margaret wanted those funds to be James' fund to 
finish the house and to be James' inheritance, free 
from Wesley's share of the trust. 

9. Therefore at Margaret's direction I prepared 
the 2007 amendment to the trust which Margaret 
edited multiple times and signed on July 18,2007. 

CP at 195 (Declaration ofRichard C Greiner, " 6-9). 

As of July 19, 2007, shortly after Margaret executed the 2007 

Amendment, the Yakima Federal Savings "building fund" account held 

$116,010.33 in the checking account, and $5,002.60 in savings. CP at 183

84.

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