FILED

Apr 16, 2014

Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington

No. 317579

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION III

IN RE THE ESTATE OF MARGARET WIMBERLEY

JAMES WIMBERLEY

Appellant,

v.

STEPHEN W. TREFTS, Northwest Trustee & Management; and CARROLL WESLEY WIMBERLEY,

Respondents.

RESPONDENT CARROLL WESLEY WIMBERLEY'S BRIEF

LINDA A. SELLERS, WSBA#18369 SARA L. WATKINS, WSBA#33656 Attorneys for Carroll Wesley Wimberley Halverson Northwest Law Group P.C. P.O. Box 22550 Yakima, WA 98907 509.248.6030

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

The language of the Trust outlining C.W.'s intent, coupled with Margaret's desire to give Jim all of her interest in the property, results in Jim receiving a ¾ interest in the property (Margaret's Survivor's Trust share of ½ plus a ¼ interest in Decedent's Trusts B & C). Wesley receives a ¼ interest in the property through his ½ distribution of Decedent's Trusts B and C.

Margaret did not specifically bequeath all of the interest in the home to Jim. Her language is clear that she wanted the home to be "distributed" to Jim as part of his inheritance. A trustee can choose to distribute certain trust assets to certain beneficiaries in satisfaction of their distributive share of the trust. RCW 11.98.070(15). Trustees are given broad authority under this statute to distribute individual trust assets as long as the trust is followed. See In re Estate of Ehlers, 80 Wn.App. 751, 757, 911 P.2d 1017 (1996). In the Ehlers case, the court held that a non

pro-rata distribution of estate property, even though the Trust stated that all of the beneficiaries were to be distributed "equal shares" of the Trust, was proper. *Id.* at 763; *see also* WAC 458-61A-202(2)(defining "nonpro rata distributions" for purposes of taxation).

Even if she wanted to bequeath to Jim 100% interest in the home without offset to Wesley, she did not have the authority to do so under the terms of the Trust because ½ of the home was held in Decedent's Trusts B and C. She could only distribute to Jim the ½ share of the house found in her Survivor's Trust A. The trustee is required by the language of the Trust to divide and distribute the Decedent's Marital Share trusts equally between the two beneficiaries. Therefore, Jim is entitled to ½ of the ½ ownership interest in the house found in the Decedent's Marital Share trust, or an additional ¼ interest in the house. Jim was bequeathed ¾ of the home under Margaret's Amendment and the terms of C.W. and Margaret's Trust.

In this case, the successor trustee has proposed distributing Jim the house, in total, as Margaret wished in her 07-07 Amendment and as allowed by RCW 11.96A.070(15). CP 51. To provide for a proper distribution, Wesley is provided a cash distribution of the value of ¼ of the interest in the house—outlined by the Trustee to be \$75,000.00. CP 51. There is no argument from Jim that the value placed on the home

(\$300,000.00) is incorrect. Since the successor trustee must follow the Trust language as a whole, not only the 07-07 Amendment, and take into account both C.W. and Margaret's wishes, the successor trustee properly allocated the value of the home ³/₄ to Jim and ¹/₄ to Wesley. The successor trustee also proposed a proper distribution by proposing to distribute 100% of the home to Jim, and distribute \$75,000.00 to Wesley to account for Wesley's ¹/₄ interest in the home. Similarly, the Building Fund can be distributed to Jim, with the funds in it as of the date of Margaret's death. Funds were removed from the building account by James and Margaret during the years 2008 through 2010 for work on the home and other purposes. The trial court's approval of the preliminary accounting with regards to the 386 Fromherz house and "Building Fund" is consistent with the language of the Trust and the intent of the Trustors, and should be upheld.

D. The trial court's order voiding the Quit Claim Deed issued by Jim as Trustee to himself, and requiring Jim to return \$254,437.91 to the Trust due to his own over-distribution to himself should be upheld because Jim was found to have breached his fiduciary duties and was to return Trust assets to the successor trustee.

The trial court properly voided the Quit Claim Deed executed by

Jim during his tenure as trustee, and properly required Jim to return Trust assets in the amount of \$254,437.91 to the Trust for proper distribution. The relief is necessary in order to protect and secure the trust assets until final distribution by the successor trustee. Jim executed the Quit Claim Deed, as Trustee of the Trust, on June 28, 2011, and recorded the deed on October 11, 2011. CP 52. Judge McCarthy determined that Jim had breached his fiduciary duties to the other beneficiary, Wesley, during the period of time that the deed was executed. CP 4-8. A successor trustee was appointed to evaluate the assets and actions of Jim during his tenure as trustee. CP 4-8. The successor trustee determined that Jim overdistributed himself significant cash resources from the Trust, \$254,437.91 according to the extensive accounting done by the successor trustee. CP 51. The successor trustee requested that the Quit Claim Deed be deemed null and void and the \$254,437.91 that Jim over-distributed to himself be returned to the Trust corpus, because Jim's distributions interfered with the successor trustee's ability to distribute the trust assets. Jim has subsequently represented to the trial court that he cannot return the money in a lump sum, which only increases the Trust's need to secure title to the Fromherz home.

Courts of equity have discretion to void a deed if it was improperly executed. Rennebohm v. Rennebohm, 153 Wash. 102, 108, 279 P. 402

(1929).

In general, whenever the legal title to property, real or personal, has been obtained through actual fraud, misrepresentations, concealments, or through undue influence, duress, taking advantage of one's weakness or necessities, or through any other similar means, or under any other similar circumstances which render it unconscientious for the holder of the legal title to retain and enjoy the beneficial interest, equity impress a constructive trust on the property thus acquired in favor of the one who is truly and equitably entitled to the same; ... and a court of equity has jurisdiction to reach the property either in the hands of the original wrong-doer, or in the hands of a subsequent holder....

Id., quoting Pomeroy's Equity Jurisprudence, § 1053.

The trustee owes to the beneficiaries of the trust the highest degree of good faith, diligence, fidelity, loyalty, and integrity, and the duty to deal fairly and justly with them and solely in their interests.

Monroe v. Winn et.al., 16 Wn.2d 497, 508, 133 P.2d 952 (1943).

Here, Jim held a fiduciary position as trustee. "A trustee, as a fiduciary, owes beneficiaries the highest degree of good faith, care, loyalty and integrity." Cook v. Brateng, 158 Wn.App. 777, 785, 262 P.3d 1228 (2010), quoting in part Esmieu v. Schrag, 88 Wn.2d 490, 498, 563 P.2d 203 (1977)(quotation omitted). Jim distributed to himself 100% of the home without making a cash distribution to Wesley for ¼ of the value of the home. See CP 51. He also distributed to himself cash from bank accounts and paid for personal items, utilities, restaurant outings and other

non-Trust related items from Trust bank accounts, equaling an overpayment of \$254,437.91 to himself.

the Trustee of the Wimberley Family Trust. He took advantage of his power by deeding himself the house (and making cash distributions to himself) and not providing any assets to Wesley. He had a heightened responsibility to Wesley. These facts justify the trial court's determination that the Quit Claim Deed should be null and void. The successor trustee should be able to property distribute the assets of the Trust and the trial court's determination that the assets of the Trust be returned, including voiding the Quit Claim Deed should be upheld.⁸

E. The trial court was correct in determining that Jim is required to pay rent to the Trust for his occupancy of the Trust-owned home until a proper distribution is made, pursuant to *In re Jones*.

Jim improperly distributed the entire value of the Trust-owned property at 386 Fromherz to himself without providing for a distribution to Wesley of cash amounting to his ¼ share of the value of the home. Jim

⁸ It should be noted that there is no legal argument in Appellant's brief as to why the standard 12% rate of interest is improper, even though alleged to be incorrect in the Notice of Appeal. Since there is no legal briefing on this point, the Court should uphold the trial court's determination.

had been residing in the home during the course of his administration of the Trust and continues to reside in the home after he was removed from his role as Trustee for breaching his fiduciary duties, in part for residing in the home without paying rent. CP 7 (the facts found in that order and the court' decision were not appealed).

In re Jones, 152 Wn.2d 1, 93 P.3d 147 (2004) is instructive in this case. The Jones case involved similar circumstances. About one year after the death of his mother, Russell Jones (the personal representative) deeded himself the Jones home, in which he had lived for approximately 15 years prior to his mother's death. Id. at 12. At the time Russell Jones deeded himself the property, there was no agreement regarding distribution of the decedent's estate or agreement that Russell could live in the home rent free. Id. at 12. Russell did not offset his distribution by providing cash or other assets to the other three beneficiaries in an amount equal to their share of the home. Id. at 13. Russell used the property as his own without paying rent before the estate was closed for his personal benefit. Id. at 14. The court found that Russell breached his fiduciary duties for failure to pay rent, as well as his actions taken to transfer the property to himself without providing an offiset. Id. at 12-13.

"[U]ntil the estate was closed, Russell had the rights of only an executor in the property. An executor is entitled to possess and control estate property during the

administration of the estate and has a right to it even against other heirs. However, as a general rule, an executor is accountable for his use of the deceased's real property.

. If he chooses to use the house for his own benefit he must pay rent.

Id. at 14 (internal citatsion omitted).

Like the facts in the *Jones* case, title to the 386 Fromherz property was in the name of the Wimberley Family Trust, not Jim Wimberley. CP 232. Therefore, Jim could not own any portion of the home until a distribution is made. Until a distribution is made, rent must be paid for use of the Trust asset so that all beneficiaries' interests in the Trust are addressed.

Jim was the trustee of the Trust at the time of Margaret's death (and since 2008, two years prior to Margaret's death). He owed to Wesley the duty to deal fairly with him and in Wesley's interests with regards to all Trust assets, including the 386 Fromherz home, which was specifically deeded to the Trust. CP 232. Instead, he continued to live in the house and use Trust bank accounts to pay for utilities, garbage service, propane and other incidentals of occupancy, and, as a result, was removed as trustee for breaching his fiduciary duties. CP 7.

As successor trustee, Mr. Trefts now has an obligation to act in the best interest and deal fairly with both beneficiaries—Jim and Welsey. Since Jim has access to and is using a significant Trust asset, the 386

Fromherz home, and all of its improvements, fixtures, and personal property assets of the Trust found in the home, it is justifiable that Jim be required to pay \$800.00 per month rent to the Trust. The home has not been distributed yet, so Mr. Trefts is charged with maintaining the Trust assets for the benefit of both brothers. The trial court was correct in ordering that Jim pay rent to the Trust, from the date of Margaret's death until the property is properly distributed.

F. The trial court was correct in allowing the successor trustee to amend its accounting with any newly discovered evidence because the successor trustee has a fiduciary duty to the beneficiaries to properly allocate and distribute the Trust assets pursuant to the Trust language.

The trial court's order states that the successor trustee "has the right to amend his accounting to include newly discovered evidence, including without limitation the \$67,000 debt from Jim Wimberley to C.W. and Margaret Wimberley as indicated on Jim' dissolution decree." CP 345. As previously stated, the successor trustee owes a fiduciary duty to both Jim and Wesley to evaluate all Trust assets and make a proper distribution pursuant to the Trust language. The trial court's order does not tell the successor trustee that he has to account for the dissolution decree debt, but only that the successor trustee can amend his accounting

if newly discovered information about the Trust corpus emerges before final distribution. This allows the successor trustee to evaluate the debt and the legality of pursuing that debt, and amend the preliminary accounting if he finds it necessary.

Mr. Trefts has a fiduciary duty to the beneficiaries to explore and consider all assets and liabilities of the Trust corpus. He presented a preliminary accounting for approval by the court. The court then acknowledged his ability to amend the preliminary accounting prior to final distribution to ensure that the distribution to both beneficiaries is correct. This is a legitimate use of the trial court's discretion in this matter, and should be upheld.

G. It is premature for the Court of Appeals to determine or consider issues for which there were no factual findings or legal conclusions made by the trial court.

Jim attempts to supersede the trial court's authority to make decisions by bringing to the Court of Appeals issues that were not addressed in the trial court's order. Such issues are not within the scope of review of the Order Approving the Preliminary Accounting.

Jim asked for review only of the Order Approving Preliminary Accounting and Petition for Instructions. CP 348. The Notice of Appeal mentions nothing about his claims of financial exploitation, statute of limitations arguments about Jim's divorce decree, challenges to money transfers to an investment account, or loans allegedly owed to the Trust by Wesley. The appellate court reviews the decisions that are designated in the notice of appeal. RAP 2.4(a). Only decisions that fall under subsections (b) through (f) are to be considered during the appeal even if they are not designated in the notice. RAP 2.4. Here, none of those subsections apply and the only issues before the Court are those specifically outlined in Judge McCarthy's Order Approving Preliminary Accounting and Petition for Instructions.

"With few exceptions, appellate review is limited to a consideration of matters ruled upon by the trial judge." Snohomish County Builders Ass'n v. Snohomish Health District, 8 Wn.App. 589, 593, 508 P.2d 617 (1973). Generally, courts decline to hear arguments on matters that were not considered at the trial court level. See id. "The function of ultimate fact finding is exclusively vested in the trial court." Ewards v. Morrison-Knudsen Co., 61 Wn.2d 593, 598, 379 P.2d 735 (1963).

The following items discussed in Appellant's brief were not addressed in the trial court's Order:

1. Whether Wesley committed financial exploitation of his

mother and must be disinherited.9

- 2. Whether Margaret had the authority to transfer funds from one account to an investment account.
- 3. Whether Margaret's transfer of \$300,000 into a different investment account should be invalidated.
- 4. The amount that the successor trustee should value the "Building Account."
- 5. Whether Jim's debt outlined in the divorce decree is an enforceable debt.
- Whether Wesley owes any money to the Trust due to loans made during Margaret's life.

These matters were not determined by the trial court, and no evidence was submitted by opposing parties because the issues were not properly before the court. The successor trustee's petition was filed on February 1, 2013 and provided to counsel. The hearing was set for May 24, 2013. Jim filed his response (CP 83-307) at 4:33 p.m. on May 21,

⁹ Wesley vehemently denies this allegation. Both Wesley and Jim have made claims against each other for abuse of their mother. Wesley filed a separate lawsuit regarding this issue in Yakima County Superior Court which is on hold pending the outcome of the accounting and now this appeal. There are extensive factual issues that need to be determined at trial (as can be reviewed in the Declaration of Marcus Fry, CP 320-343). If Jim wants the issue addressed, he should note it for trial.

2013, at the close of business three days before the hearing. Therefore, any substantive issues set forth in the Response were not properly noted for the court's review. As such, they also can not be considered as part of this appeal. Since the issues were not properly before the court, the trial court made no factual findings or legal conclusions on these issues. They are not within the scope of review in this appeal. RAP 2.4. The Court of Appeals should decline to make any determinations or decisions on the above-referenced issues.

VI. CONCLUSION

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